APPELLANT'S BRIEF 

Appellant, HOWARD KENNETH MURRA Y through undersigned counsel, 

alleges error by the trial court in both its instruction to the court and relevant to the 

sufficiency of the evidence. In support thereof the Appellant alleges as follows: 

Appellant was convicted of first degree "felony" murder as a result of application 

of the concerted action theory which implicated him in an attempted burglary. This issue 

arose as a result of the following facts: On February 26,2008, Four young people were 

congregated at the trailer rented and occupied by the victim, Mr. Brett Butler and his wife 

Devon Butler, and located in Sharp's trailer court in Elizabeth, Wirt County, West 

Virginia. Visiting on that date were Jamie Wine and Ashlea AngelY. At least Wine was 

drinking heavily. A bong packed with marijuana was later found at the scene and 

identified as belonging to the victim. (Transcript Volume III p. 18). At some point in the 

evening Wine made a phone call to a friend named Cory Robinson (Transcript Volume II 

p. 149). Wine arranged to meet with Robinson in mineral Wells about 10 miles away for 

the purposes of purchasing marijuana. Devon Butler drove Jamie Wine to Mineral Wells 

for that purpose. They did meet Corey Robinson near a car wash close to a "7-11" 

convenience store in Mineral Wells. During this meeting, Wine assaulted Robinson by 



punching him in the face and otherwise, and took the marijuana by force without paying 

for it (Transcript Volume II p. 228). Devon Butler assisted by driving away after the 

strong arm robbery (Transcript Volume II p. 229). Oscar Gibson was Robinson's 

marijuana supplier (Transcript Volume II p. 153). Robinson telephoned his marijuana 

supplier, Oscar Gibson who was located in Parkersburg, West Virginia. He drove to the 

housing complex where Gibson was located (Transcript Volume II p. 229). He met with 

Gibson, who, being informed of the assault on Robinson and the theft of the marijuana, 

proceeded to contact the Appellant The Appellant, Robinson, and Gibson proceeded to 

Elizabeth in a car owned and driven by Robinson. There was no evidence adduced as to 

any specific plan on behalf of the three, who were all ultimately indicted relevant to the 

incident. (Transcript Volume II p. 205,278) 

When the three arrived in Elizabeth they proceeded to Sharps Trailer Court 

because Robinson recognized Devon Butler from the marijuana robbery and knew where 

she lived. He was an acquaintance of the Butlers and had been to their trailer on other 

occasions. There is significant evidentiary discrepancy as to what happened at the Butler 

trailer upon their arrival (Transcript Volume II p. 236, 292). All three Defendants 

below testified that they entered with consent. Angely testified that the three entered 

without consent and by force. Upon entry the only adults present were Brett Butler and 

Ashlea Angely. When questioned about the marijuana Wine robbed from Robinson, 

Brett Butler responded that he had no knowledge. The Appellant admit that thereafter he 

battered Mr. Butler by kicking and punciling him. The three then left the trailer. 



It is from this point that the facts which gave rise to the felony murder 

charge arose. The appellant Robinson and Gibson left the trailer park driven by 

Robinson. As they were driving out the gate, Devon Butler and Jamie Wine were 

approaching the trailer park in the Butler Pick up truck (Transcript Volume II p. 232). 

Apparently seeing Robinson's vehicle they drove past the park entrance and proceeded 

into and around the town of Elizabeth. Robinson followed and a slow speed pursuit 

ensued in and around Elizabeth and proceeded back to the trailer park. Devon Butler 

was driving the Butler truck. She parked outside the Butler trailer. The appellant exited 

the vehicle and approached the Butler truck. He confronted Devon Butler at the driver's 

side door and remained there. Meanwhile Jamie Wine exited the Butler truck and ran 

inside the trailer. (Transcript Volume II p. 240, 241 ) He immediately emerged back out 

of the trailer brandishing at Gibson a pair of nunchuka and a medieval mace, which is a 

wooden stick with a metal spiked ball on the end of a chain attached to the stick 

(Transcript Volume II p. 244). In turn Gibson brandished a handgun at Wine (Transcript 

Volume II p. 244). Wine ran back inside the trailer and Gibson began kicking on the 

front door of the trailer. Gibson did not discuss or plan this with the Appellant prior to 

taking this action (Transcript Volume II p. 276) 

At some point the deceased Brett Butler exited the trailer through a rear 

door, circled the trailer and approached the Appellant from behind with a weapon 

described as a spear. Mr. Butler approached the appellant from the rear, and slit the front 

of the Appellant's neck with a spear. The Appellant's neck bled profusely. (Transcript 

Volume II p. 245 ) The Appellant wL:stled the spear away from Mr. Butler. Upon loss of 

his weapon, Mr. Butler retreated. The Appellant proceeded to follow Mr. Butler and 



jabbed in the gluteus area with the same spear. Mr. Butler jumped over an embankment. 

The appellant, Robinson and Gibson all left the scene in Robinson's car. Mr. Butler 

suffered a wound to the femoral artery in his groin. He bled out and ultimately died fonn 

hemorrhagic shock to vital organs. 

The trial court erred by instructing the jury as to the concerted action theory and 

erred by not giving Defendant's instruction number #5 which provided that specific intent 

must be proved in order to convict the Defendant of felony murder by attempted 

burglary. The court erred by giving the concerted action theory instruction in the context 

of this prosecution for felony murder based upon an alleged "attempted burglary." State 

v Burd, 1991,419 S.E. 2nd 676, 187 W. Va. 415 provides that to constitute the crime of 

attempt, proof of specific intent to commit underlying crime and an overt act which falls 

short of commission of crime must be established. Appellant asked the court to instruct 

the jury of this principle in his proposed instruction #5 (Appellate transcript p. 393) 

which the court denied. Given that the crime charged "attempt" is a specific intent 

crime, it was error for the court to instruct the jury relative to the concerted action theory 

that Appellant need not have a specific, personalized intent to commit an attempted 

burglary in order for him to be convicted of felony first degree murder by attempted 

burglary (Transcript Volume 3, page 121). Rather the court instructed the jury that" 

The State must demonstrate that the Defendant shared the criminal intent of the principal 

in the first degree. In this regard, the accused is not required to have intended the 

particular crime committed by the perpetrator, but only to have knowingly intended to 

as~ist, encourage or facilitate the design oft>e criminal actor." The evidence is void a:; to 
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any proof that Appellant intended to commit the second attempted burglary performed 

by Gibson. The courts instruction is at odds with Burd, erroneous and prejudicial. 

At least one other state limits accomplice liability in cases involving specific 

intent crimes. In Sharma v State of Nevada, 118 Nev. 648,56 P.3d 868, the Nevada 

Supreme Court held that 

"To be held accountable for the specific intent crime of another 
lUlder an aiding or abetting theory of principal liability, aider or abettor 
must have knowingly aided the other person with the intent that the other 
person commit the charged crime; it is insufficient that a specific intent 
crime not intended by aider and abettor was natural and probable 
consequence of target crime of aider and abettor" 

This case was later distinguished on other grounds in State v Bolden, 121 

Nevada 908, 124 P. 3rd
• 191 but maintained this principle relative to specific intent 

cnmes. 

Nor did the evidence justify the verdict. To understand why the 

verdict is unjust as applied to the facts of this case and the charge of felony murder one 

must examine the purpose of the "felony murder rule". The Felony murder rule provides, 

in essence, that proof of first degree murder, which otherwise requires proof of 

premeditation and malice may be made by showing that the Defendant on trial committed 

certain specific felonies which are inherently dangerous. The pre-mediation and malice 

is in essence inferred from the commission or attempt to commit certain specified 

felunies which are inherently dangerous. In essence, the law pernas the "scienter" 

elements of pre-mediation and malice to be inferred by the commission or attempt to 



commit certain felonies. One is presumed malicious, and presumed to have committed a 

pre-meditated malicious homicide if a death ensues during the commission or attempt to 

commit a arson, robbery kidnapping, sexual assault, burglary, breaking and entering, 

escape from lawful custody, or a felony offense of manufacturing or delivering a 

. controlled substance as defined in article four, chapter sixty-a of this code. The 

underlying offense charged in this case is attempted burglary. Consequently, it would be 

unjust to affirm a conviction for a death, even one which was committed in the course of 

an attempted robbery ( a factual point the Appellant does not concede) , when the accused 

did not commit the attempted robbery and the attempted robbery was not planned 

between the accused and the person who committed it. The alleged attempted robbery, 

looked at in alight most favorable to the Appellee, was the spontaneous act of another, 

in response to a set of circumstances which were unforeseen. Wherein lies the 

Appellants malice or pre-mediation, inferred or otherwise? To affirm a charge of first 

degree murder as a result of an underlying allegation of attempted burglary, when the 

Appellant did not commit the attempted burglary, the attempted burglary was unplanned, 

was perhaps unforeseeable, and when the Defendant was provoked by first having his 

own neck sliced with a razor sharp spear, would be unjust. Any prior legal standard 

supporting this conviction is overbroad, such that it ensnares within its scope acts for 

which the felony murder rule was not intended to include. First degree murder is the 

worst of all crimes against the person. The acts of Appellant should not be included 

therein.