---

---

NO. 35448

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

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

#### ARGUMENT

**A. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY AS TO THE CONCERTED ACTION THEORY. NOR DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION PROVIDING THAT SPECIFIC INTENT MUST BE PROVEN IN ORDER TO CONVICT HIM OF FELONY MURDER BY ATTEMPTED BURGLARY.**

**1. Standard Of Review**

*“A trial court's instructions to the jury must be a correct statement of the law and supported by the evidence. Jury instructions are reviewed by determining whether the charge, reviewed as a whole, sufficiently instructed the jury so they understood the issues involved and were not misled by the law. A jury instruction cannot be dissected on appeal; instead, the entire instruction is looked at when determining its accuracy. A trial court, therefore, has broad discretion in formulating its charge to the jury, so long as the charge accurately reflects the law. Deference is given to a trial court's discretion concerning the specific wording of the instruction, and the precise extent and character of any specific instruction will be reviewed only for an abuse of discretion.”*

---

<sup>15</sup> The court ordered that the two batteries and destruction of property sentences would run concurrently. The court further ordered that the burglary sentence would run consecutively with the sentences for the batteries and destruction of property. Finally, the court ordered that the felony murder sentence would run consecutively with the sentences for burglary, the batteries, and destruction of property. Vol. III Tr. 213-214; R. at 11.

Syl. pt. 8, *State v. Foster*, 221 W. Va. 629, 656 S.E.2d 74 (2007) (per curiam) (emphasis added) (quoting Syl. pt. 4, *State v. Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995)).

“[I]f an objection to a jury instruction is a challenge to a trial court's statement of the legal standard, this Court will exercise *de novo* review.” *Guthrie*, 194 W. Va. at 671, 461 S.E.2d at 177. “[W]hen an objection to a jury instruction involves the trial court's expression and formulation of the jury charge, this Court will review under an abuse of discretion standard.” *Id.*

“‘An instruction to the jury is proper if it is a *correct statement of the law and if sufficient evidence has been offered at trial to support it.*’ Syllabus Point 8, *State v. Hall*, 171 W. Va. 212, 298 S.E.2d 246 (1982).” Syl. pt. 5, *State v. Satterfield*, 193 W. Va. 503, 457 S.E.2d 440 (1995) (emphasis added) (quoting Syl. pt. 1, *State v. White*, 171 W. Va. 658, 301 S.E.2d 615 (1983)).

“Whether facts are sufficient to justify the delivery of a particular instruction is reviewed by this Court under an abuse of discretion standard. In criminal cases where a conviction results, the evidence and any reasonable inferences are considered in the light most favorable to the prosecution.” Syl. pt. 3, *State v. Bradford*, 199 W. Va. 338, 484 S.E.2d 221 (1997) (quoting Syl. pt. 12, *State v. Derr*, 192 W. Va. 165, 451 S.E.2d 731 (1994)).

A trial court's refusal to give a requested instruction is reversible error only if: (1) *the instruction is a correct statement of the law*; (2) it is not substantially covered in the charge actually given to the jury; and (3) it concerns an important point in the trial so that the failure to give it seriously impairs a defendant's ability to effectively present a given defense.

*State v. Wade*, 200 W. Va. 637, 646, 490 S.E.2d 724, 733 (1997) (emphasis added) (quoting Syl. pt. 11, *Derr*, *supra*).

**2. Because Appellant Was An Aider And Abettor To The Underlying Felony, Attempted Burglary, The Court's Incorporation Of The Concerted Action Theory In Its Jury Instructions Was Proper. As An Aider And Abettor, It Was Likewise Proper For The Court To Deny Appellant's Proposed Jury Instruction That Specific Intent Must Be Proven In Order To Convict Him Of Felony Murder By Attempted Burglary.**

On appeal, Appellant asserts that, because attempted burglary is a specific intent crime, the court erred by instructing the jury as to the concerted action theory and in not giving his proposed jury instruction # 5,<sup>16</sup> which provided that specific intent must be proven in order to convict him of felony murder by attempted burglary. *See generally* Appellant's Brief at 4-5. On the contrary, the evidence in this case shows that Appellant acted as a principal in the second degree or aider and abettor<sup>17</sup> to the burglary attempt by Gibson, the principal in the first degree. Thus, it was proper for

---

<sup>16</sup> Appellant's proposed jury instruction #5 provides as follows:

In regards to the charge of Murder in the First Degree committed in the course of an attempted Burglary as charged in Count 5 of the indictment, the court instructs the jury that the crime of attempted burglary requires two elements. First, the Defendant must have a specific intent to commit the underlying substantive crime, and second, he must commit some overt act toward the commission of that crime which falls short of completing the underlying crime. Before you can convict the Defendant of murder in the first degree as charged in Count 5, the State of West Virginia must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant had a specific intent to commit burglary, and second, he committed some overt act toward the commission of Burglary which falls short of completing the Burglary. If the State of West Virginia fails to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant had a specific intent to commit burglary, and second, that he committed some overt act toward the commission of Burglary which falls short of completing the underlying crime, then you must find the Defendant not guilty of First Degree Murder.

R. at 393.

<sup>17</sup> It should be noted that "[t]he terms 'principal in the second degree' and 'aider and abettor' are synonymous." *State v. Duncan*, 179 W. Va. 391, 397 n.6, 369 S.E.2d 464, 470 n.6 (1988) (citing *State ex rel. Brown v. Thompson*, 149 W. Va. 649, 142 S.E.2d 711 (1965), *overruled on other grounds*, *State v. Petry*, 166 W. Va. 153, 273 S.E.2d 346 (1980)).

the court to instruct the jury as to the concerted action theory and, further, to deny Appellant's proposed jury instruction #5 providing that specific intent must be proven in order to convict him of felony murder by attempted burglary.

The court's jury instructions, relative to the charge of felony murder, in its entirety, provides as follows:

The offense charged in Count Five of the indictment is "first degree murder". One of two verdicts may be returned by you under this charge of the indictment. They are: (1) guilty of first degree murder; and (2) not guilty.

"First degree murder" is committed when a homicide occurs during the attempted commission of a burglary. This type of murder is commonly known as a felony murder. [<sup>18</sup>]

Before the Defendant, HOWARD KENNETH MURRAY, can be convicted of first degree murder, the State of West Virginia must overcome the presumption that the Defendant, HOWARD KENNETH MURRAY, is innocent and prove to the satisfaction of the jury beyond a reasonable doubt that:

1. *the Defendant*, HOWARD KENNETH MURRAY,
2. in Wirt County, West Virginia,
3. on or about the 6<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2008,
4. while actually or constructively present at the time and place of the commission of

---

<sup>18</sup> As a collateral matter, this provision of the court's instructions is appropriate under the felony murder statute, which provides the following: "Murder . . . in the commission of, or attempt to commit, arson, kidnapping, sexual assault, robbery, burglary, breaking and entering, escape from lawful custody, or a felony offense of manufacturing or delivering a controlled substance . . . is murder of the first degree. All other murder is murder of the second degree." W. Va. Code § 61-2-1.

attempted burglary, and *while sharing the criminal intent of Oscar Gibson,*

5. *did knowingly aid and abet*
6. *Oscar Gibson*
7. *to commit attempted burglary,*
8. *in order that Oscar Gibson,*
9. *with the intent to commit burglary,*
10. *did attempt to break and enter in the nighttime*
11. *the dwelling house*
12. *belonging to Brent W. Butler*
13. *with the intent of Oscar Gibson to commit battery therein,*
14. *and, as a result of the attempted burglary, HOWARD KENNETH MURRAY caused the death of Brent Wilson Butler.*

The felony murder statute applies where the initial felony and the homicide were parts of one continuous transaction and were closely related in point of time, place and causal connection. [<sup>19</sup>]

The crime of felony murder in this state does not require proof of the elements of malice, premeditation or specific intent to kill. It is deemed sufficient if the homicide occurs accidentally during the

---

<sup>19</sup> This provision of the court's instructions is also consistent with the law. "The felony-murder statute applies where the initial felony and the homicide are parts of one continuous transaction, and are closely related in point of time, place, and causal connection . . . ." Syl. pt. 9, in part, *Wade, supra* (quoting Syl. pt. 2, *State v. Wayne*, 169 W. Va. 785, 289 S.E.2d 480 (1982)).

commission of, or the attempt to commit, burglary. [20]

If, after impartially considering, weighing and comparing all the evidence, both that of the State and that of the Defendant, the jury, and each member of the jury, is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt of the truth of the charge as to each of these elements of first degree murder you may find the Defendant, HOWARD KENNETH MURRAY, guilty of first degree murder.

If the jury, and each member of the jury, have a reasonable doubt of the truth of the charge as to any one or more of these elements of first degree murder, you shall find the Defendant, HOWARD KENNETH MURRAY, not guilty.

The Court instructs the jury that a person who is the absolute perpetrator of a crime is a principal in the first degree. The Court further instructs the jury that a person who is actually or constructively present at the scene of a crime at the same time as the criminal act of the absolute perpetrator is an aider and abettor and a principal in the second degree, [21] and as such, may be criminally liable for the criminal act as if he were the absolute perpetrator of the crime. [22] Actual physical presence at the scene of the criminal act

---

<sup>20</sup> The court's instructions, on this point, also comport with the law. See Syl. pt. 8, *State v. Grimmer*, 162 W. Va. 588, 251 S.E.2d 780 (1979) *overruled on other grounds*, *State v. Petry*, 166 W. Va. 153, 273 S.E.2d 346 (1980) (quoting Syl. pt. 7, *State v. Sims*, 162 W. Va. 212, 248 S.E.2d 834 (1978)) (“The crime of felony-murder in this State does not require proof of the elements of malice, premeditation or specific intent to kill. It is deemed sufficient if the homicide occurs accidentally during the commission of, or the attempt to commit, one of the enumerated felonies.”).

<sup>21</sup> The court's instructions on the meaning of principles in the first degree and second degree are also correct. “A person who is the absolute perpetrator of a crime is a principal in the first degree, and a person who is present, aiding and abetting the fact to be done, is a principal in the second degree.” Syl. pt. 4, *Foster, supra* (quoting Syl. pt. 5, *State v. Fortner*, 182 W. Va. 345, 387 S.E.2d 812 1989)).

<sup>22</sup> This provision of the court's instructions is also supported by statute. In this regard, W. Va. Code § 61-11-6(a) provides, in relevant part, that “[i]n the case of every felony, every principal in the second degree . . . shall be punishable as if he or she were the principal in the first degree . . . .” The case law provides likewise:

is not necessary where the aider and abettor was constructively present at a convenient distance at the time and place of the criminal act, *acting in concert with the absolute perpetrator*. However, you are cautioned that merely witnessing a crime without intervention therein does not make a person a party to its commission unless his interference was a duty and his non-interference was designed by him and operated as an encouragement to or protection of the absolute perpetrator of a criminal act. [23]

---

“A person who is present, aiding and abetting another in the commission of an offense, is a principal in the second degree within the meaning of Code, 61-11-1, which provides, in part: ‘In the case of every felony, every principal in the second degree, and every accessory before the fact, shall be punishable as if he were the principal in the first degree.’”

Syl., *State v. R. A. W.*, 165 W. Va. 264, 267 S.E.2d 553 (1980) (quoting Syl. pt. 3, *State v. Franklin*, 139 W. Va. 43, 79 S.E.2d 692 (1953)). See *State v. Legg*, 218 W. Va. 519, 523, 625 S.E.2d 281, 285 (2005) (“[T]here is no legal distinction between a conviction as a principal in the first degree and a conviction as an aider and abettor; the punishment is the same for each.”). See also Syl. pt. 1, *State v. C. J. S.*, 164 W. Va. 473, 263 S.E.2d 899 (1980) *overruled on other grounds*, *State v. Petry*, 166 W. Va. 153, 273 S.E.2d 346 (1980) (“An aider and abettor is as criminally responsible for a crime as the principal actor.”).

<sup>23</sup> This particular instruction is also well founded in the law:

“Merely witnessing a crime, without intervention, does not make a person a party to its commission unless his interference was a duty, and his non-interference was one of the conditions of the commission of the crime; or unless his non-interference was designed by him and operated as an encouragement to or protection of the perpetrator.”

Syl. pt. 5, *Foster*, *supra* (quoting Syl., *State v. Patterson*, 109 W. Va. 588, 155 S.E. 661 (1930)). However, and although not instructed to the jury by the court,

“Proof that the defendant was present at the time and place the crime was committed is a factor to be considered by the jury in determining guilt, along with other circumstances, such as the defendant's association with or relation to the perpetrator and his conduct before and after the commission of the crime.”

The State must demonstrate that the *Defendant shared the criminal intent of the principal in the first degree*. In this regard, the *accused is not required to have intended the particular crime committed by the perpetrator, but only to have knowingly intended to assist, encourage or facilitate the design of the criminal actor*.

Volume III Tr. 118-121 (emphasis added).

“Under the *concerted action principle*, a defendant who is present at the scene of a crime and, by acting with another, *contributes to the criminal act*, is criminally liable for such offense as if he were the sole perpetrator.” Syl. pt. 7, *Foster*, supra (emphasis added) (*quoting* Syl. pt. 11, *Fortner*, supra). The events of February 6, 2008, and Appellant’s participation in them, show that the court was correct in instructing the jury on this theory.

After learning that his marijuana had been taken, Gibson, along with Appellant and Robertson, drove from Parkersburg to the Butler’s trailer in Elizabeth to find Jamie Wine in order to recoup his marijuana. At no time during this trip did Appellant ask to be taken home or let out of the car. Volume III Tr. 69. After arriving at the Butler’s trailer, Robertson kicked in the door and he, Gibson and Appellant entered the trailer. Robertson and Gibson then began questioning Mr. Butler about where his wife and Jamie Wine were, and told him that Mr. Wine had stolen their marijuana. An argument ensued and Gibson, while holding a gun in open view, slapped Mr. Butler. Appellant thereafter slapped and kicked Mr. Butler. Appellant then shoved Ashlea Angely as she was trying to escape the trailer. Appellant, Gibson and Robertson then left the trailer.

Returning to the Butler’s trailer a few minutes later, Appellant and Gibson jumped out of

---

Syl. pt. 6, *Foster*, supra (*quoting* Syl. pt. 10, *Fortner*, supra).

their car and ran over to Ms. Butler's truck.<sup>24</sup> Appellant opened Ms. Butler's door and began yelling and screaming at her while Gibson questioned her about the marijuana's location. Gibson then proceeded towards the Butler's trailer in pursuit of Jamie Wine while Appellant remained with Ms. Butler, blocking her from exiting her truck, and questioning her about the location of the marijuana. At this same moment, and with the door locked, Gibson began kicking the trailer door in order "get at" Mr. Wine for taking his marijuana. It was also during this same time period that Appellant stabbed Mr. Butler in the leg causing him to bleed to death.

It is obvious on these facts that Appellant was acting in concert with Gibson in his attempt to burglarize the Butler's trailer. Appellant was present at all times while Gibson was attempting to kick in the trailer door. Appellant contributed to this attempted burglary, at a minimum, by preventing Ms. Butler from leaving her truck while Gibson was trying to kick the trailer door open. It is also obvious on these facts that Appellant contributed to the overall criminal plan, which was to go to Elizabeth, find Jamie Wine, and get back the marijuana by any means necessary, including

---

<sup>24</sup> Regarding getting out of the car on their second trip to the Butler's trailer, Appellant gave the following testimony:

Q. When you returned back to the trailer, at this point, did you believe that things had completely gotten out of hand [from] the first time you were there?

A. Yes.

Q. But you didn't stay in the car, did you?

A. No.

Q. You got out of the car to help Oscar [Gibson] again, didn't you?

A. I just- yeah. Yes. Yes.

using violence. Thus, and contrary to Appellant's assertion, the court properly used the concerted action theory in instructing the jury.

As an aider and abettor, it was also proper for the court to deny Appellant's proposed jury instruction, which stated that specific intent must be proven in order to convict him of felony murder by attempted burglary.

To be convicted as an aider and abettor, the law requires that the accused in some sort associate himself with the venture, that he participate in it as in something that he wishes to bring about, that he seek by his action to make it succeed. The State must demonstrate that the *defendant shared the criminal intent of the principal in the first degree*. In this regard, the *accused is not required to have intended the particular crime committed by the perpetrator, but only to have knowingly intended to assist, encourage, or facilitate the design of the criminal actor*.

*Foster*, 221 W. Va. at 635- 636, 656 S.E.2d at 80-81 (emphasis added) (*quoting Fortner*, 182 W. Va. at 356, 387 S.E.2d at 823).

"A finding that two criminal actors possess a shared criminal intent *does not require that an accused aider and abettor intend to commit the crime committed by the principal in the first degree*. The intent element is relaxed where there is evidence of substantial physical participation in the crime by the accused." Syl. pt. 4, *State v. Mullins*, 193 W. Va. 315, 456 S.E.2d 42 (1995)(emphasis added). *See Fortner*, 182 W. Va. at 356, 387 S.E.2d at 823 (citations omitted) ("The intent requirement is relaxed somewhat where the defendant's physical participation in the criminal undertaking is substantial."). Furthermore, "[s]ubstantial physical participation by a person charged as an aider and abettor in a criminal undertaking constitutes evidence from which a jury may properly infer an intent to assist the principal criminal actor." Syl. pt. 5, *Mullins, supra*. *See also State v. Reedy*, 177 W. Va. 406, 415, 352 S.E.2d 158, 167-168 (1986) (*quoting State v. West*, 153

W. Va. 325, 335, 168 S.E.2d 716, 722 (1969)) (“All that it is necessary for a principal in the second degree to be doing is to be present aiding and abetting in the commission of the crime. He does not have to commit the crime itself . . .”).

Appellant, as an aider and abettor, shared the criminal intent of Gibson, the principal in the first degree, by knowingly helping and participating in the overall criminal plan of Gibson, which, again, was to travel to Elizabeth, find Jamie Wine, and retrieve the marijuana “at all cost,” including the use of violence. As discussed above, Appellant’s participation in this endeavor was substantial – he was involved “all the way, from beginning to end.” Thus, the court correctly denied Appellant’s proposed instruction requiring proof of specific intent and, instead, properly instructed the jury as follows:

The State must demonstrate that the *Defendant shared the criminal intent of the principal in the first degree*. In this regard, the *accused is not required to have intended the particular crime committed by the perpetrator, but only to have knowingly intended to assist, encourage or facilitate the design of the criminal actor*.

Vol. III Tr. 121 (emphasis added).

**B. THE JURY’S APPLICATION OF THE EVIDENCE TO THE LAW, AS INSTRUCTED TO THEM BY THE CIRCUIT COURT, JUSTIFIES THEIR VERDICT CONVICTING APPELLANT OF FELONY MURDER.**

**1. Standard Of Review**

“The function of an appellate court when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction is to examine the evidence admitted at trial to determine whether such evidence, if believed, is sufficient to convince a reasonable person of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, the relevant inquiry is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt.”

Syl. pt. 2, *Foster, supra* (quoting Syl. pt. 1, *Guthrie, supra*).

“A criminal defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction takes on a heavy burden. An appellate court must review all the evidence, whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and credibility assessments that the jury might have drawn in favor of the prosecution. The evidence need not be inconsistent with every conclusion save that of guilt so long as the jury can find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Credibility determinations are for a jury and not an appellate court. Finally, a jury verdict should be set aside only when the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is weighed, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. To the extent that our prior cases are inconsistent, they are expressly overruled.”

Syl. pt. 1, *Foster, supra* (quoting Syl. pt. 3, *Guthrie, supra*).

“The jury is the trier of the facts and in performing that duty it is the sole judge as to the weight of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses. Syllabus point 2, *State v. Bailey*, 151 W. Va. 796, 155 S.E.2d 850.” Syl. pt. 3, *West, supra* (internal quotations omitted). See Syl. pt. 4, *West, supra* (internal quotations omitted) (“If a new trial depends upon the weight of testimony or inferences from it, the jury are exclusively and almost uncontrollably the judges. Point 1, syllabus, *State v. Winans*, 100 W. Va. 418, 130 S.E. 607.”).

**2. Because Appellant Acted As An Aider And Abettor, The Jury Properly Returned A Verdict Convicting Him Of Felony Murder.**

On appeal, Appellant argues that the evidence in this case does not justify the jury’s verdict.

See generally Appellants’ Brief at 5. More precisely, Appellant asserts that

[t]o affirm a charge of first degree murder as a result of an underlying allegation of attempted burglary, when the Appellant did not commit the attempted burglary, the attempted burglary was unplanned, was perhaps unforeseeable, and when the Defendant was provoked by first having his own neck sliced with a razor sharp spear, would be unjust.

Appellant's Brief at 6.

On the contrary, and as more fully discussed above, the evidence shows that Appellant acted as a principal in the second degree or an aider and abettor to Gibson in carrying out not only the underlying felony offense, attempted burglary, but also the overall criminal design or plan of Gibson of retrieving his marijuana by any means necessary. Based on this evidence, the court properly instructed the jury under the concerted action theory. Thereafter, the jury properly convicted Appellant of felony murder. The jury's verdict finding Appellant guilty of felony murder is just, regardless of whether the attempted burglary was planned or whether Appellant actually committed the attempted burglary.

“Where a defendant is convicted of a particular substantive offense, the test of the sufficiency of the evidence to support the conviction necessarily involves consideration of the traditional distinctions between parties to offenses. Thus, *a person may be convicted of a crime so long as the evidence demonstrates that he acted as an accessory before the fact, as a principal in the second degree, or as a principal in the first degree in the commission of such offense.*”

Syl. pt. 3, *Foster, supra* (emphasis added) (quoting Syl. pt. 8, *Fortner, supra*).

“‘[T]he elements which the State is required to prove to obtain a conviction of felony-murder are: (1) the commission of, or attempt to commit, one or more of the enumerated felonies; (2) *the defendant's participation in such* commission or *attempt*; and (3) the death of the victim as a result of injuries received during the course of such commission or attempt.’ *State v. Williams*, 172 W. Va. 295, 311, 305 S.E.2d 251, 267 (1983).”

Syl. pt. 1, *Wade, supra* (emphasis added) (quoting Syl. pt. 5, *State v. Mayle*, 178 W. Va. 26, 357 S.E.2d 219 (1987)).

Furthermore, under the facts of this case, Appellant's suggestion that Gibson's attempt to

burglarize the Butler's trailer was unforeseeable is disingenuous. Only minutes before this attempted burglary, Appellant, Gibson and Robertson broke into the trailer in order to retrieve the marijuana and "came up empty handed." Given this, it was very foreseeable, and perhaps a certainty, that when these men returned Gibson would again attempt to burglarize the trailer in order to retrieve his marijuana from Jamie Wine, after Mr. Wine ran into the trailer.

It was likewise foreseeable that someone may have been killed as a result of the second break-in attempt. Essentially, the Butlers, as well as Ashlea Angely, were terrorized by Appellant, Gibson and Robertson. First, these men kicked down the door to the Butler's trailer, entered, and proceeded to "bully," threaten and beat Mr. Butler and Ashlea Angely and, "all the while," Gibson had a gun in his hand. Thereafter, these men followed Ms. Butler and Jamie Wine through the town of Elizabeth screaming, yelling and throwing things at Ms. Butler's truck with, again, Gibson waving a gun at them. Appellant, Gibson and Robertson continued to follow Ms. Butler and Mr. Wine back to the Butler's trailer court. Appellant and Gibson then jumped out of their car, ran over to Ms. Butler's truck, and began yelling and screaming at her about the location of the marijuana. With Appellant blocking Ms. Butler from getting out of her truck, and continuing to yell and scream at her about the marijuana, Gibson, with a gun in his hand, walked up to the trailer and tried to kick open the door and confront Jamie Wine about his marijuana. This is just the type of situation where someone can be killed, which is exactly what happened in this case.

Finally, with no offense intended, Appellant's assertion that he was provoked into stabbing Mr. Butler is somewhat insulting. To begin with, Mr. Butler had his home broken into; he was slapped, kicked and had threatening comments made to him about his wife; and he had a gun pulled on him. Minutes later, these same men came back to his home, one of whom (Gibson) tried to kick

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